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The St David’s Trail was created as part of the All’s Well project.  Our trained volunteers can take you on a guided walk of this part of Exeter, and tell you lots of interesting and entertaining stories about the chequered history of the area.

The guided walk takes an hour, and begins and ends at Exeter Community Centre where you can sample the delights of the Mulberry Tree café!  It is a fairly level route and wheelchair accessible, though we do cross several roads.  Our guides will take good care, but participants on the walk are responsible for their own safety.

If you have a school group, or are a local business, or a history or community group who would like to walk the trail, please contact the Exeter Community Centre and we will see if we can arrange one for you (minimum group size – 6 people.). Otherwise, watch out for posts on social media about upcoming trails, or join us during Heritage Open days in September.

The Exeter Community Centre 

In 2012 the local St David’s partnership fundraised to buy the building and save it from developers.  After lots of work, the centre became home to various community organisations as well as hiring out a wide range of meeting rooms and a wonderfully resourced community kitchen, alongside the café and the beautiful garden with its ancient mulberry tree, after which the café is named! The centre contains visual and digital information about the area and is well worth exploring.



The Building

Initially a merchant’s house, in 1843 the property became home to a school for blind and visually impaired pupils who came here as boarders.  Pupils learnt braille alongside how to make willow baskets and mats, and tune pianos or mend shoes.  

By 1930, there were 188 blind persons registered here, and in 1965, the school, by now called the West of England School for the Blind and Partially Sighted, outgrew the building and moved to Countess Wear. 


Mount Dinham 

John Dinham was a local man who made a fortune selling tea. Tea became hugely fashionable in the nineteenth century, and although we know Dinham made a big positive difference to many lives in Exeter through his charitable works, we can only wonder at how much of the tea and coffee sold at his London Tea Company was produced with slave labour.  

In 1862, Dinham built forty-two Free Cottages as retirement homes for the deserving poor and artisans of Exeter: all of them are still here, and are still homes for the over 60s. They are really well designed and remarkably spacious alms houses, luxury compared to the living conditions most of the occupants would have been used to.  Dinham also built a large and well-resourced school facing the cottages; this was a charitable school providing free education – prior to 1880 primary education for 5 to 10 year olds wasn’t compulsory.  

The Church of St Michael and All Angels

This Grade 1 listed church was built in 1865 on land known as Mount Dinham. Its elegant tall spire reaches 230 feet and is the highest spire west of Salisbury cathedral.  The church building was funded by a friend of Dinham’s called William Gibbs.  Gibbs’ family, like so many families in Exeter, had made their fortune from the cloth and wool trade, but William Gibbs added to his fortune by selling bird poo!  He imported guano from Peru to be used as fertiliser.  

Gibbs became the richest non-noble man in England, and bought a grand house near Bristol called Tyntesfield and re-modelled the property in the Gothic Revival style.  Tyntesfield is now owned by the National Trust.

Peregrine Falcons
Since 1987, peregrines have taken to nesting up in the tower and lots of chicks have successfully been hatched there over the years.  There is a webcam set up so you can follow their progress online.


Corner of Dinham Road and St David’s Hill

On the night of 3 May 1942, a large firebomb was dropped right here and numbers 1-3, and 7 and 8 were all destroyed.  The day after this attack, there was a massive air raid on the city which killed 156 people and injured 563. 

These was one of the so-called ‘Baedecker’ raids, deliberately targeting beautiful historic cities.  The attack was made in retaliation for the allies bombing of Lubeck, a cathedral city in Germany. 

The extensive bombing of Exeter led to the destruction of 400 shops, nearly 150 offices, over 50 warehouses, and stores, 36 clubs and pubs. Of 20,000 houses in the city, 1,500 were destroyed, 2,700 seriously damaged, and the majority of the remaining 16,000 sustained some slight damage.

The North Gate

St David’s Hill was the main route into Exeter from Crediton and North Devon, and lead up to the North Gate in the City Wall. The City Wall is still visible at various places in the city and you can walk a route around it.  

The area under the bridge is the Longbrook valley.  The Long brook still runs through it but in underground pipes, and the brook was an important water source in the city from the Romans onwards.  Before the building of the bridge the valley was much steeper, and the horse and carts entering the city managed to get down the steep hill, but they couldn’t get up it, not with passengers on board.  So passengers and drivers would dismount, and take a drink in the various coaching inns and alehouses at the bottom of the hill while the horses rested.

The Barnstaple Inn was very well known and had something of a reputation as a bawdy house.  The pub at the other end stood beside the North Gate. Now named the City Gate, then it was called the Crown and Sceptre.  You can still see that the archway at the side was big enough for coach and horses to go through.


The Iron Bridge 

The amount of noise and the traffic up to the North Gate caused. The steepness of the hill had always been difficult, and the iron-rimmed wheels on the cobbles were very noisy: in 1820 a local resident complained “I have seen 12 to 20 pair-horse carts in succession laden with lime coming from St Leonards and Countess Wear.”  In 1834 it was agreed that a bridge should be built.  

This ‘multi-arched cast iron viaduct’ was built in 1835.  Cast at an iron works in Monmouthshire, at a cost of £3,500,  the bridge sections came by water and road because the railway wasn’t built at St David’s until 1841.   

The building of the bridge had implications for the coaching houses, and the Barnstaple Inn shifted focus to brewing beer.  Warehouses remain beside the bridge that made up the St Anne’s Well Brewery.  Workers cottages were built along  Northerhay Street, with  stabling for the dray horses who delivered the beer.  The brewery was still working until 1966.



Russell Terrace

Wool and cloth have been central to the wealth and life of Exeter. At its height, 80% of the local population was employed in the wool and cloth industry, and there is evidence of the wool trade all over the city.  The row of cottages here was home to weavers in the 1800s. Their cloth and looms were up on the top floors under the eaves so they could weave with light from the windows. Lots of weavers and spinsters would have lived and worked in this area outside the city wall.  

In 1832 there was a major cholera outbreak in Exeter, causing people to ‘stay safe and stay home’. To keep the weavers working, the women lowered down their baskets from the attic windows laden with woven cloth, and in exchange their baskets were filled with food and ale.  

The Clocktower

The clocktower itself was built in 1897, but 20 years earlier William Miles paid for four granite horse troughs to be placed in the same spot to be used by the city’s many working horses. 

From Roman times onward there were hundreds of horses in the city, and up until the end of the nineteenth century they were still the main means of transporting goods and people, so there were nearly as many horses as people in Exeter.  William Miles was worried that these hard-working horses were often neglected and he made several key contributions to the advancement of animal rights. In the 1850’s Miles wrote several books on equine welfare, including The Horse's Foot and How to Keep it Sound which became essential reading for anyone looking after horses.

When William Miles died in 1881 his widow, Louisa Anne, erected this, the Miles’ Clocktower in memory of her husband, placing it in between the horse troughs her husband had commissioned.  

Designed by Thomas A. Andrews, a local architect from Bedford Circus, it was J.W. Singer & Son of Frome cast the bronzes and the wrought-iron lamps. Local stone masons, J. Easton and Sons, constructed the tower using red Corsehill sandstone and Chudleigh limestone to create the structure. The Clocktower was built with enough interior space for the clock to be manually wound but nowadays it uses electricity instead.  

The Buller Statue

Redvers Buller lived in Credition and led the British Army in South Africa, both in the Anglo-Zulu war of 1878 and later as Commander-in-Chief of British Forces in the early months of the Second Boer War in 1899.  Buller was awarded the Victoria Cross during the Zulu War, where he carried three men to safety, lifting them onto Biffen, his beloved horse. 

In a skirmish on the same day, he was also apparently observed leading his horse to safety with six Zulu children mounted on it. A reminder that there were large numbers of Zulus fighting with the British as well as against them.

This statue was paid for by public subscription, by the ‘ordinary people of Devon’.  Apparently Creditonians were livid that it was put up with the horse’s bottom facing Crediton, where Buller came from, but maybe the horse is headed for William Miles’s water trough at the clock tower?

Contested History
There has been much important discussion about whether this statue should be moved or taken down completely; does it glorify colonial tyranny, and someone responsible for the killing of thousands of Zulu people? And was Buller – as the petition to have the statue removed stated – someone who “had a "major hand" in the establishment of “concentration camps”, a British invention that came out of the Boer war?  Although Buller was the British commander at the outbreak of the Boer War, he was replaced in January, 1900.  It was under Kitchener’s command in late 1900 that the concentration or internment camp policy was established.  

Whatever our opinions of the subject, the statue itself is a fine work of art.  The horse in particular is lovingly and expertly depicted by the sculptor, Adrian Jones, and is a portrait of Biffen, the horse that was returned to Crediton along with Buller.  Jones had been a military vet, so his understanding of horses and their anatomy is excellent and clearly apparent in the dynamic modelling of Biffen. 

Adrian Jones is more famous for his huge sculpture Peace descending on the Quadriga of War - a chariot with four horses driven by a child - which is on top of the Wellington Arch at Hyde Park Corner, London. 


Bury Meadow

For several hundred years this area it was pasture land and grazing for horses, but during the 1832 Cholera outbreak it took on a different purpose.

The Exeter Board of Health decreed that all people who died from cholera in Exeter could not be buried in any churchyard or cemetery within the city walls.  The meadow was suggested as a suitable site.  Local people protested that the land wasn’t consecrated and anyway, they didn’t want to have the dead from other parishes buried in St David’s. Only their own.

In July, 1832 and local people attacked the gravedigger who had been asked to bury the dead.  Several locals kept watch in the Warden’s house and prevented the burial.  Eventually in August, the Bishop of Exeter consecrated the land and the burials took place in the area which is now a children’s playground.

Mapping the cholera epidemic 

At the time of the outbreak there was no understanding of how the disease spread.  A local Exeter doctor, Dr Shapter, carefully mapped the Exeter deaths and the streets where they occurred, and discovered that they correlated to water sources, and in particular to the water fountain at the top of Mary Arches street. he concluded that the water was carrying the disease.  


The Church of St David’s

There has been a church on this site since Anglo Saxon times.  The splendid church of St David’s that stands today was completed in 1900.  Grade 1 listed, the building was described by John Betjeman, then poet laureate, as "the finest example of Victorian church architecture in the south west".  

Body Snatching

Until the Anatomy Act of 1832, the taking of corpses from graves, or ‘bodysnatching’, wasn’t actually illegal.  The dissection of corpses other than those of criminals was an offence, and so was the theft of items from the corpse.

The most famous case of graverobbing in Exeter happened in the cemetery of St David’s. On Thursday morning 9th November 1826, according to the local paper, it was discovered that there had been “an outrage of the most revolting nature… committed during the night in St David’s churchyard, Exeter by the disinterment of the body of Elizabeth Taylor, 67 years of age, buried the preceding afternoon”.

A trail of footsteps led to the premises of William Cook, a surgeon on Sidwell Street.  The renowned surgeon required the body to teach an anatomy class and the prison – normally a good source of hanged criminals – had no corpses., Cook decided to pay a local man called Giles Yarde to ‘acquire’ a body. 

Yarde was caught, and he and Cook were taken to court but met very different fates. Cook was given a hefty fine, but the editor of the Lancet got up a collection from other doctors to pay this for him.  There was considerable sympathy for Cook within the medical profession who all knew how hard it was to get hold of criminal’s bodies to teach and learn from. 

Yarde on the other hand was convicted of stealing ‘wearing apparel’- presumably the grave clothes of Elizabeth – and was later transported to Tasmania.


The Battle of Waterloo
The best known resident of St David’s church yard is undoubtedly Captain (later General) Alexander Cavalie Mercer, buried here in 1868. Mercer commanded ‘G’ Troop Royal Horse Artillery at the Battle of Waterloo and the journal that he wrote shortly after the battle is one of the best sources that historians have in understanding what went on that day in June 1815. 


Little Silver 

There have been houses here as long as there has been a church, so back to the 12th century, but many have since been demolished.  This lovely cluster of houses is what remains. No 5 dates from the 18th century and the rest are Victorian, apart from Number 1 which dates from the 17th century.

In 1963 Carl Hawkins bought no 1 for £500.  The house was due for demolition, but  Hawkins renovated it meticulously, and fought the council to save it, managing in the process to stop the other houses in the row from being demolished too.

The plaque you can see over the door is the Vivvyan coat of arms over the door – a family that Hawkins was related to; Hawkins rescued it from St Mary Major church that was being demolished in 1971 – it stood right in front of the cathedral - and brought it back here in a wheelbarrow!  (Apparently the Hawkins family own coat of arms included a bound slave).  In the 1560’s John Hawkins, one of Carl’s ancestors, travelled with Raleigh and brought the potato back to England.


Possibly add something about the DEMHT and the objects that they are going to place in the café back at the centre – this is planned but not currently extant, but is a point of interest along with the other info in the centre etc.
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